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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

PRIVATE 

P.O. Box 25512







Juneau, Alaska 99802-5512

ROBERT J. GENTLEMAN,
)



)


Employee,
)


  Applicant,
)



)
ERRATA


v.
)



)
AWCB Case No. 9310568

ITT FEDERAL SERVICES CORP.,
)



)
AWCB Decision No. 97-0259


Employer,
)



)
Filed with AWCB Anchorage


and
)
December 17, 1997



)

PACIFIC EMPLOYER INS. (CIGNA),
)



)


Insurer,
)


  Defendants.
)

                                                                                                    )


The Interlocutory Decision and Order issued December 9, 1997 in the above captioned claim contains an error and should be corrected as follows:  


The decision was designated as AWCB Decision No. 97-0253.  The correct AWCB Decision No. is 97-0259.  


Dated at Anchorage, Alaska this 17th day of December, 1997.



ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD



 /s/ Rhonda L. Reinhold                


Rhonda L. Reinhold



Designated Chairman


CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Errata in the matter of Robert Gentleman, employee/applicant; v. ITT Federal Services Corp., employer; and CIGNA, insurer/defendants; Case No. 9310568; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, this 17th day of December, 1997.



Brady D. Jackson III, Clerk

ROBERT J. GENTLEMAN,
)



)


Employee,
)


  Applicant,
)
INTERLOCUTORY



)
DECISION AND ORDER


v.
)



)
AWCB CASE No. 9310568

ITT FEDERAL SERVICES, INC.,
)



)
AWCB Decision No. 97-0259


Employer,
)



)
Filed with AWCB Anchorage


and
)
December 9, 1997



)

PACIFIC EMPLOYER INS. (CIGNA),
)



)


Insurer,
)


  Defendants.
)

                                                                                                    )


In Gentleman v. ITT Federal Services Corp. and Pacific Employers Ins. (CIGNA), No. 4FA-95-1009 Civil (December 13, 1996) the Honorable Jay Hodges determined Gentleman v. ITT Federal Services Corp, AWCB Decision No. 95-0087 (March 30,1995) "must be vacated."  Employee's claim was remanded to us with directions to re-assign it to a new panel.  On July 24, 1997, we heard Employee's claim for benefits in Fairbanks, Alaska.  Employee is represented by Attorney James Hackett.  Employer and its insurer are represented by Attorney Ann Brown.  We closed the record on August 23, 1997 to allow the deposition testimony of a witness Employee had subspeonaed for the hearing but who did not appear.


ISSUE

Are Employee's current respiratory and ear, nose, throat and low back conditions related to his work with Employer?


SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE AND ARGUMENTS


Employee, who worked as a chef for Employer at Clear Air Force base for about eight years, claims he suffers from respiratory, ear nose and throat problems because of his exposure to Spartan Oven and Grill Cleaner (cleaner).  In addition to the routine use of the cleaner, Employee also claims his respiratory problems were caused by an incident which occurred on May 23, 1993 (May 1993 incident) when Employee alleges a co-worker inadvertently sprayed the cleaner directly into his face.  Finally, Employee claims his coughing from exposure to the cleaner aggravated a pre-existing back condition.


Employer claims the cleaner, used in the manner described, could not have caused the conditions from which Employee suffers.  Alternatively, Employer alleges many other causes unrelated to the work, including Employee's cigarette, marijuana and cocaine abuse, are responsible for his respiratory complaints and low back pain.  


Robert Gentleman, Employee, testified on his own behalf at the March 1995 hearing, but not at the July 1997 hearing.  In addition to the testimony he gave at the prior hearing we also considered the testimony he gave at his August 26, 1994 deposition.  


Employee, who has been a cook his entire adult life, worked for Employer from 1985 through July 26, 1993.  (Tr. 139-140).  He testified his health became progressively worse during the last four years he worked for Employer (Tr. 142, 161).  Employee testified he made the connection between his declining health and use of the cleaner in January 1993.  (Tr. 158).


Employee testified that he cleaned a two and one-half by three foot grill (which stood at waist level), with the cleaner once or twice a day for three to five minutes, four days a week for eight years.  (Tr. 150; Employee dep. 43-44).  Employee explained that he would turn the grill off, pour the cleaner on and allow it to "start boiling" before scraping the residue off.  (Tr. 151).  During this process, he said he would inhale the vapors rising from the grill.  (Tr. 156).  Employee described the kitchen as being poorly ventilated.  (Tr. 153).  


Employee attributes the May 1993 incident as another cause of his respiratory problems.  On that day, a co-worker was spraying cleaner on a wall.  Employee testified that as he rounded the corner, he took a "direct burst in the face" and immediately began coughing and heaving.  (Tr. 160; Employee dep. 63).  Employee testified his coughing aggravated his back condition.  (Tr. 172).  The next day, Employee went to the clinic at Clear Air Force Base and was treated by physician's assistant Gary Jones.  (Tr. 162-163).  Employee testified he suffered chemical burns around his lips, nose and throat and larynx.  (Tr. 164; Employee dep.  47, 54).   However, P.A. Jones' May 24, 1993 report does not mention any burns on Employee's lips, nose, throat, eyes or face.  (Tr. 210).


Employee denies he ever used cocaine.  (Tr. 189; Employee dep. 36).  However, after he tested positive for cocaine and marijuana during the Employer's Medical Evaluation (EME) in Colorado, he had an independent blood test done in Fairbanks which found "everything negative."
  (Tr. 173).  Employee denied he ever smoked four packs of cigarettes a day on a daily basis, but admitted he had smoked for about 20 years.  (Tr. 187).  At his deposition, Employee testified that it had been years since he smoked marijuana.  (Employee dep. 34).  


Employee was unable to recall various head traumas documented by the medical records.  (Tr. 195-9)  Employee was also uncertain about having treated for pulmonary problems associated with smoking in 1980 or smoking-related bronchitis in 1981 (Tr. 200-201).  Likewise, Employee was unable to recall some of the medical attention he had for sinus, ear, and throat problems.  (Tr. 203).  Employee said he regularly took decongestants.  (Employee dep. 38).  Employee recalled a discussion with Dr. Burger in 1990 when Dr. Burger told Employee his respiratory problems were constantly aggravated by his smoking and his wife's heavy smoking.  (Tr. 205).


Employee testified he has had a constant sinus infection and pneumonia twice since he left work.  (Employee dep. 57-58).  Employee testified that in August or September 1993, he spent four weeks in bed coughing.  (Employee dep. 67). 


Scott Jones testified at the March 1995 hearing.  Jones worked with Employee as a kitchen helper.  (Tr. 73-74).  He said that when he cleaned the grill, he would let it cool to 200-250 degrees Fahrenheit (F) and then pour the cleaner on the grill, allowing it to "bubble" before scraping it off.  (Tr. 76).  Later Jones testified he cleaned the grill when it was just "very warm to touch."  (Tr.  87).  Jones testified the cleaner never made him cough, but the fumes bothered his nose and throat.  (Tr. 85).  


Jones testified he saw Employee coughing on one occasion while using the cleaner.  (Tr. 77).  Although he did not see the May 1993 incident, Jones said he saw Employee smoking the next day.  (Tr. 81).  Jones, who slept in a room across the hall from Employee, testified that about the same time as the May 1993 incident, he could hear Employee at night "hacking pretty loudly when he coughed. . . . It was a deep hacking cough."  (Tr. 83).  Jones testified that he was "sure" he had seen Employee cough while smoking. (Tr. 86).


Peter Dahmen testified telephonically at the March 1995 hearing.  Dahmen, who had worked as the culinary shop steward for the prior eight years, said he had received complaints from about six employee regarding the cleaner and the kitchen's air quality during the eight months before the May 1993 incident.  (Tr. 328-331).  Dahmen recalled seeing Employee and others coughing while using the cleaner.  (Tr. 341-343).  Dahmen testified that on one occasion, fumes from the cleaner caused everyone to leave the kitchen for about 20 minutes.  (Tr. 377).  The parties reviewed the cleaner's Material Safety Data Sheet (MSDS) with Dahmen.  (Tr. 342, 347-354).
  At page two, section eight, concerning the need for respiratory protection while using the cleaner in aerosol form, the MSDS states:  "none required."  At page one, section seven, concerning the need for respiratory protection while using the cleaner in bulk form, the MSDS states: "none required."  However, the cleaner's MSDS indicates that one of its component chemicals, buthoxyethanol, can be absorbed through the skin and if inhaled may irritate the throat and respiratory system.  (Tr. 358).


Rolland Ginnaty testified at both the March 1995 and July 1997 hearings.  At the time of the first hearing, Ginnaty had worked as a cook for Employer since September 1988 (Tr. 386) and had been President of the Culinary Union for four years.  (Tr. 391).  He testified that "on occasion" he saw Employee coughing while using the cleaner (Tr. 386) and that he also believed there were ventilation problems in the kitchen.  (Tr. 387).  


At the second hearing, Ginnaty was more specific.  In addition to its use in the kitchen, the cleaner was also used in the bathrooms of the dormitory where Employee resided.  Ginnaty recalled Employee suffered from "nighttime coughs," severe sinus infections, and "deep coughs" while working in the kitchen.  Ginnaty testified that, in addition to Employee,  he and other employees complained of headaches and sinus problems they related to the cleaner.  Ginnaty testified that only two notices of injury concerning  use of the cleaner were ever filed, both by Daniel Holland.  (AWCB Exhibit 1:  January 6, 1994 Report of Injury and AWCB Exhibit 2:  November 7, 1997 Report of Injury).   Ginnaty testified that Holland took "frequent" smoke breaks.  He recalled that Gentleman also smoked, but he could not remember how frequently.


Daniel Holland testified at the July 1997 hearing.  Holland testified he was a member of the culinary union and worked in the kitchen as a baker and cook from 1990 through 1993.  He testified the cleaner was used in the kitchen and dormitory bathrooms.  Holland testified that other dormitory residents complained of Employee's "aggressive" and "continuous" cough.  Holland said that when he poured the cleaner on the grill, it would "ignite" and the flames had to be "controlled with water."  Holland said that when the cleaner would "ignite all over the place" it caused a cloud to "mushroom" up.  When this would happen, Holland said his eyes would water and his throat and sinuses would be irritated.


Judith Holbert, a Certified Nurse Practitioner and Employee's former sister-in-law, testified by telephone at the July 1997 hearing.  Holbert stated she saw Employee in his home on October 16, 1992; September 27, 1993; and June 6, 1994 for breathing problems and back pain.  Holbert testified that Employee had "swollen nodes" which indicated an infection.


John Gold, P.A., testified at the March 1995 hearing. Gold worked a rotation with the other physician's assistant, Gary Jones, at the Clear Air Force Base medical clinic.  (Tr. 49).  Gold said the clinic's records for Employee date from April 1987 through June 1993.  Gold testified that he treated Employee and two other employee for respiratory problems which they related to use of the cleaner.  (Tr. 50-51).


Carl Crispin testified at the March 1995 hearing.  Crispin testified he supervised the kitchen helpers and cooks at Clear Air Force Base for six years.  (Tr.  396-7).  Crispin explained that the citation Employer received from the Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) was for failing to provide instruction on its proper use and handling.  (Tr. 420-422).  Crispin said he has used the same cleaner "extensively and quite effectively."  Crispin also laid the foundation for introduction of a videotape of the kitchen in which Employee worked.


Frank Baker testified at the March 1995 hearing.  Baker testified he had been a kitchen helper at Clear Air Force Base for seven years.  With regard to the May 1993 incident, Baker testified:  "I was cleaning and Bob made a commotion about the spray cleaner that I was using. . . . I was spraying the spray cleaner on [the wall] and then using a broom to scrub it and rinse it down."  (Tr. 479).  Baker testified he held the can 6-8 inches from the wall at about arm's length and sprayed.  (Tr. 498).  Baker said the spray would foam once it contacted the wall.  (Id.). 


Q:  And do you recall whether or not you sprayed Mr. Gentleman directly in his face?


A:  No, I don't believe I did.


Q:  And why don't you believe that?


A:  From the product I was using, he's a little bit wide to be walking between me and the product and the wall.


Q:  How far were you from the wall?


A:  It was only a couple of feet.


Q:  So you don't think he passed actually through your direct line of fire at any rate?


A:  No.  No, I do not.

(Tr. 479-481).  Baker further testified that while it was "possible" Employee came in contact with mist, he did not see Employee walk into mist or anywhere near mist.  (Tr. 485).  


Q:  Okay.  Now, when you were spraying the material onto the wall, were you standing in a big miasma or cloud of aerosol from the can yourself?


A:  From my opinion, no.

(Tr. 484-485).


When asked to describe any odors associated with use of the cleaner, Baker testified:  "There is an odor when you use this product, probably similar to the perfume that they put in propane to let you know that it is in the area. . . .  It's not something you're going to stick your head in and inhale.  (Id.)


Q:  Did you actually feel droplets on your face or . . .


A:  No.


Q:  . . . body?


A:  No, I did not.


Q:  Did you experience any problems as a result of using the - - - this aerosol can on the date that Mr. Gentleman made the commotion?


A:  No.


Q:  How about at any other time?


A:  No.

(Tr. 489-490).


Lieutenant Michael Stickler, an Alaska State Trooper testified on behalf of Employer, that Employee was the subject of a criminal investigation for cocaine distribution in early 1995. 


Bart Ziegler, Ph.D., testified at the March 1995 hearing.  Dr. Ziegler is a toxicologist with a specialty in inhalation toxicology and background in chemical handling and safety.  (Tr. 103-104).  Dr. Ziegler never examined Employee.  (Tr. 107).  He testified that according to the MSDS for the cleaner, it is a sodium hydroxide solution, which if inhaled as a "corrosive mist or aerosol, is a toxicant to the respiratory region, from the nose to the throat to the lungs."  (Tr. 109-110).


Dr. Ziegler described the model he created in his laboratory to simulate the conditions under which Employee claims he used the cleaner on the grills.  (Tr. 110)  Specifically, Dr. Ziegler testified that pouring the cleaner on a hot grill would cause the solution to boil and immediately vaporize.  (Tr. 111).  According to his model, this would cause exposure to sodium hydroxide particles at a level two time greater than the occupational guideline established by the National Institute of Safety and Health. (Tr. 112-114).  


Knowing that, then--- and we know that the corrosive causes: tightness of chest, dyspnea [shortness of breath], cough and bronchitis, we can then extrapolate that he was given some significant exposure and it can --- and it resulted in --- in --- in his chronic obstructive pulmonary disease or at least exacerbated the condition that he already had as a result of the smoking.

(Id.).


Dr. Ziegler testified the report by Paul Raugust, M.D., who treated Employee's throat condition, indicating "edema" of the vocal cords was consistent with "inhalation of a corrosive compound." (Tr. 116).  Referring to a 1992 article
 provided by Dr. Raugust, Dr. Ziegler testified: "sodium hydroxide exposure . . . is a  --- a known --- it's a corrosive compound known COPD causing (indiscernible). . . . and a single acute exposure of sodium hydroxide was strong enough to cause severe pneumonitis as well as permanent lung damage . . . ." (Tr. 116-117).  Dr. Ziegler testified that Employee's cigarette smoking made him "hypersensitive" to the effects of the sodium hydroxide mist or aerosol.  (Tr. 118).  


 Dr. Ziegler was unable to testify about the "aerodynamic diameter distribution" of the aerosol Employee asserts was sprayed in his face.  He admitted, however, that the larger the diameter, the more likely the mist particles would be "captured" in the nasal passageways prior to reaching the upper airways or the respiratory region of the lower part of the lungs.  (Tr. 123).  Dr. Ziegler said he too was "surprised" there was no mention of eye irritation in the first medical report after Employee contended he was sprayed in the face with the cleaner.  (Tr.  126).  Nevertheless, Dr. Ziegler stated:


In this case, apparently he has no eye irritation that's perceived by the --- by the medical examiners, which leads me to suspect that the concentration was most likely not strong enough to cause eye irritation but given  his pre-existing condition of --- of --- as a smoker, of COPD, he was probably more likely to be hypersensitive in the airways.  In otherwords, he's already much more allergic, if you will, or responsive in the airways because of his pre-existing condition.

(Id.).


Thomas F. Schrager, Ph.D., also testified at the March 1995 hearing.  Dr. Schrager is a toxicologist with post-doctorate work in pathology.  (Tr. 435).  Dr. Schrager testified he never examined or interviewed Employee, he only talked with Employee's attorney.  (Tr.  463).  


Schrager disagreed with opinions expressed by Lawrence Respsher, M.D., the Employer's Medical Evaluator, that it is physically and chemically impossible for sodium hydroxide to be an atmospheric hazard.  (Tr. 438).  Dr. Schrager testified that if a sodium hydroxide solution like the cleaner is heated, some of the sodium hydroxide will evaporate in the steam, some will be left as a powdery dust which becomes airborne, and some will be "aerosolized."  (Tr. 439). The usual form in which the chemical presents a danger is through inhalation of dust or mist.  (Id.).


Dr. Schrager also disagreed with Dr. Repsher's opinion that the absence of burns on Employee's face meant no respiratory damage could have occurred.  Dr. Schrager testified that because the skin is tougher and dryer than the mucous membranes inside the nose, throat and lungs, the corrosive effect of sodium hydroxide, which is activated by contact with water, would not necessarily leave burns on Employee's face even though the moist mucous membranes would be damaged.  (Tr. 443).  


Dr. Schrager explained that corrosives, such as sodium hydroxide, cause cell death and necrosis which is permanent and irreparable damage.  (Tr. 446).  On the otherhand, Dr. Schrager testified that butoxyethanol, another component of the cleaner, is an "irritant" which has a "reversible reaction in tissue." Dr. Schrager explained that when an "irritant" is removed, the tissue irritated will return to its "normal" state.  (Tr. 445).  Dr. Schrager testified that Dr. Raugust's diagnosis of edematous vocal cords and mucositis is consistent with exposure to a corrosive and irritant.  (Tr. 447).  


Dr. Schrager testified that when a person is in close contact with a chemical, as Employee was when he cleaned the grill, the overall ventilation in the room is irrelevant.  (Tr. 448).  With regard to causation, Dr. Schrager testified:


He suffered from injuries, as we've already discussed, that are consistent with some type of an exposure to a corrosive and/or irritant; although, some of the injuries actually, from what I understand, there was liquefication (sic) necrosis and so on would be consistent with exposure to a corrosive.  He was working with a solution that's corrosive and an irritant.  He was using them in a way that would create a high likelihood of some type of an exposure and his proximity to the source increased that further.  So, all of the different factors are consistent with an exposure.  His description of when the symptoms occurred and the nature of the symptoms are consistent with that. . . .  


It's specifically characteristic of exposure to butoxyethanol or butyl cellusols and also exposure to a highly irritant or corrosive material such as sodium hydroxide.

(Tr.  449-450).  


When asked about the specific chemical composition of the vapor rising from the grill while using the cleaner, Dr. Schrager testified:  


Well, the water would come up because it's being heated and vaporized.  The butoxyethanol for the same reason, and the sodium hydroxide would be coming up either because it's mixed in with the butoxyethanol as the water, as it's being evaporated or . . . would be dried as a dust and the heat vapors would carry it up in the air. . . . 


Well, the dust is a very, very fine particle.  I mean if you looked at it under a microscope, it's an actual particle.  But, you know, like dust in the air or dust in our house, it gets moved around by air currents and when you have a lot of heat, as you do on a stove, you create a lot of air currents and hot air rises.  So, the air currents would be moving up and carrying particles with it: dust, the powdered sodium hydroxide, and anything else.  

(Tr. 451).


When questioned about other possible causes of Employee's respiratory condition, Dr. Schrager testified that cigarette smoke is "certainly" toxic, cocaine (when inhaled) is "very" toxic, and  nasal spray is "probably somewhat toxic depending on how it's used."  (Tr.  458-459).


Bruce N. Colby, Ph.D., testified at the July 1997 hearing by telephone.  Dr. Colby is an analytical chemist.  Dr. Colby reviewed the May 1995 hearing testimony of Dr. Ziegler (pgs. 103-139), Dr. Schrager (pgs. 434-475), Dr. Repsher (pgs. 235-324 and 510-517) in preparation for the July 1997 hearing.  Dr. Colby explained that aerosols can be created in two ways: mechanically or through evaporation.  Fog is an example of the second method.  Ocean waves breaking on a beach to produce a salty mist is an example of the first.  Additionally, when a liquid is either carbonated or boiled, a mechanically generated aerosol containing chemicals dissolved in the solution will result as the bubbles burst to the surface.


Dr. Colby explained that when the cleaner was poured on the hot grill and brought to a boil, it produced a mechanically generated aerosol containing sodium hydroxide.  Dr. Colby testified that a sodium hydroxide aerosol was mechanically produced in the experiment he created to simulate the conditions under which Employee would have used the cleaner.  In his experiment, Dr. Colby deposited 25 drops of a 4% sodium hydroxide solution on a hot plate heated to boiling temperatures and held a PH strip 2 centimeters above and 10 centimeters to the front of the plate.


Dr. Colby testified there was no way to assess the diameter of the aerosol particles produced under these conditions; however, the greater the energy (heat) pumped into the system, the smaller the aerosol particles would become.  During his rebuttal testimony, Dr. Colby further explained that chemical reactions do not occur spontaneously.  Therefore, the notion that the cleaner would combine with the grease left on the grill to produce simple soap and therefore not become a toxic aerosol is incorrect.  Dr. Colby testified that if the cleaner was brought to a boil, then a sodium hydroxide aerosol would be produced, which could go "quite far" and remain "suspended in the air."


Richard Raugust, M.D., testified by deposition on October 26, 1994.  Dr. Raugust is an American Medical Association (AMA) board- certified otolaryngologist (neck surgeon) and considers himself an expert on environmental causes of ear, nose and throat problems.  (Raugust dep. 1 and 24).  Dr. Raugust first treated Employee in May 1993 and has treated him about eight times since for chronic throat, sinus, coughing and inner ear problems.  (Raugust dep. 2-3). 


Based on the representations made by Employee and other employees he has treated from Employer's kitchen for similar problems, Dr. Raugust said that Employee's problems, except his perforated septum, were related to toxic exposure at his work.  (Raugust dep. 9-10 and 27). Dr. Raugust also testified that cocaine abuse is responsible for perforated septums about 50 percent of the time.  (Raugust dep. 51).  In addition to cocaine abuse, Dr. Raugust explained that the extended inhalation of smog, ice fog, nasal sprays, and cigarette or marijuana smoke can cause the same type of permanent damage to the nasal cilia (microscopic hairs) and septum as that seen in Employee's case. (Raugust dep. 28-29, 34-35, 38-39, 51, and 56).  Therefore, Dr. Raugust said he inquired about these other types of exposure.


I saw the perforation of his nasal septum.  That's one of the first things one thinks about, so I specifically asked him, you know, have you used nasal sprays, like Afrin or Neo-Synephrine?  Have you used cocaine?  Have you had trauma to the nose? and he said, no, I have not.  So --- but I asked because that's one of the first things that comes to mind, of course.

(Raugust dep. 31)


Dr. Raugust explained that cigarette smoke, either primary or secondary, could cause "all of his lower pulmonary tract problems and aggravate all of his upper problems."  (Raugust dep. 38).  Cocaine use, on the other hand, "can cause all of the nasal symptoms that he has . . . kills off the cilia, the little microscopic hairs that clear all of the bacteria and mucous and dust and everything out of the nose . . . can lead to a perforation of the nasal septum . . . cause sinus infections [and] nosebleeds." (Id.).     


Dr. Raugust testified he relied on Employee's representations about his medical history (Raugust dep. 50) but agreed that without access to past medical records (which he admitted he did not have), it would  be difficult to trace the cause of Employee's conditions.  (Raugust dep. 53).  Dr. Raugust also testified that he had "doubts" about Employee's credibility and considered it to be "suspect" (Raugust dep. 39, 46).  
Dr. Raugust testified that when the co-workers he treated went on vacation, their symptoms improved, while Employee's grew worse even after he left his work with Employer.  (Raugust dep. 41).  However, in his September 23, 1993 letter to Employer, Dr. Raugust stated:  "that while away from the job site, Mr. Gentleman's symptoms improved dramatically."  

    When asked if Employee would completely recover to his pre-exposure level assuming he did not abuse cocaine, cigarettes or marijuana, Dr. Raugust testified:


Probably. . . . But you know not necessarily.  Probably would recover, but there's, you know, some people, like this article that I mentioned earlier
, that people with chronic exposure to these substances sometimes will develop pulmonary fibrosis . . . .


I don't know what he was like then [before his work with Employer] or what his x-rays show, but if somebody had a chronic condition, and then had a super-imposed exposure to some toxic substance that would aggravate everything for a while, and when that calmed back down again, and then they'd go back to their normal chronic problem, that certainly is possible.

(Raugust dep. 42-43).


Douglas Smith, M.D., an orthopedic surgeon, testified by telephonic deposition on February 15, 1995.  Dr. Smith performed a Board ordered Second Independent Medical Evaluation (SIME) on June 7, 1994.  Dr. Smith was asked to render an opinion on whether Employee's coughing may have temporarily or permanently aggravated his pre-existing low back condition from a 1988 injury for which surgery was performed in 1989.  (Smith dep. 15)  Dr. Smith testified, in pertinent part, at pages 21-23, as follows:  


It would be my opinion that it is possible that there was back pain associated with coughing going on prior to September 27, 1993, but I feel that it is not significantly documented in the records. . . .


[T]hen on the other hand, on September 27, 1993, there was a visit to the clinic where contemporary records indicated that he reported that he had severe coughing which, quote, threw his lower back out, unquote.  The examiner at that time felt there was some swelling in the lower back area, and also felt that Mr. Gentleman looked sick.  It would be my opinion that it was probable that coughing could have been related to the back pain, at least at that point in time, in September of 1993. 


It would also seem probable, however, that this was a temporary aggravation. . . . By December 14th when Mr. Gentleman was seen by Dr. Burke in Colorado, he was reported to have a normal exam relative to his back. . . . Mr. Gentleman himself also related that he felt his back condition had cleared by December of 1993, or January of 1994, when he reported he was released to work by Dr. Lindig.


Dr. Smith offered no opinion about the work-relatedness of Employee's coughing (Smith dep. 24), except to say that if it was related, then Employee's work temporarily aggravated his preexisting low back condition but caused no increase in his permanent partial impairment.  (Smith dep.  26).  In addition to Dr. Smith's SIME report and deposition testimony, we also reviewed the SIME reports of Beth Baker, M.D., a pulmonary disease specialist and David Beal, M.D., an ear, nose and throat specialist.  


Dr. Baker's June 10, 1994 SIME report indicates she examined Employee on June 7, 1994.  Her report states:  "On reviewing the pulmonary function test and x-rays, I do not find objective evidence to suggest a chemical pneumonitis.  I suspect upper airway irritant affect from his chemical exposure.  I do not believe he sustained an acute or chronic pulmonary problem from this exposure."  Dr. Baker also ruled out any causal relationship between Employee's laryngitis and cough to the cleaner.  Dr. Baker attributed Employee's "recurring bronchitis to cigarette abuse."  Dr. Baker determined Employee was medically stable.  


In his August 24, 1994 report, Dr. Beal said it was a "possibility" Employee's sinusitis and larynx problems were caused by the cleaner, but that there was "no way to verify" such an "allergic response."  On the otherhand, Dr. Beal said the probable etiology of Employee's other symptoms, including his perforated septum, were smoking and drug use.


Lawrence Repsher, M.D., testified at both the March 1995 and July 1997 hearings on behalf of Employer.  Dr. Repsher is an internist with a specialty in pulmonary diseases.  (Tr. 236).  He has performed Board ordered SIMEs.  (Tr. 238).  On December 13 and 14, 1993, he performed an Employer's Medical Evaluation (EME) with two other physicians, Eric Kruetzner, M.D., an ear, nose and throat specialist,  and Scott Burke, M.D., an orthopedist.  (Tr. 239-240).


At both hearings, Dr. Respher testified that on examination he found Employee had a 1.5 centimeter septal perforation, COPD and emphysema.  Dr. Repsher explained that "large flabby lungs" are indicative of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) while "small shrunken lungs" are associated with fibrosis.  (Tr. 311).  Dr. Repsher testified that a lesion in the nose is a classic sign of cocaine addition.  (Tr. 249).  To confirm his suspicions, Dr. Repsher requested about 15 strands of hair, which Employee refused to provide.  Hair samples, unlike blood or urine samples, will provide "long term" drug abuse information.  (Tr. 276-277).  Employee's urine and blood samples were tested instead.  (Tr. 243).  Such samples tested positive for cocaine and marijuana.  (Id.).


Dr. Respher testified that in addition to cocaine abuse, a trauma to the face or the excessive use of nasal sprays, such as Afrin, can cause or contribute to septal perforations. (Tr. 249).  Dr. Repsher testified that Afrin has the same effect as cocaine on the nose because it causes constriction of the blood vessels which results in cell tissue death, causing necrosis (rotting) and an eventual perforation in the septum.  (Tr. 319). 


Referring to his written report, Dr. Repsher testified Employee was probably malingering and has underlying psychological problems of an unclear nature.  (Tr. 252).  Dr. Repsher testified that his opinion was based:


[M]ainly from reviewing the records and then talking to him and then there were --- you know, there were disparities, significant disparities in what he told me and what the records seem to document and, of course, a significant disparity between what he told me about his drug use and the results of the drug testing. . . . [and my knowledge about] the chemistry of the product [Spartan Oven & Grill cleaner] that he was complaining about which would not be --- which couldn't do the things that he was saying that it was doing.

(Tr.  252).   


Dr. Repsher testified that there was "no evidence of any clinically significant chemical inhalation or contact on May 23, 1993 or at any other time."  (Tr. 253,262-263).  He testified his conclusion was based on his review of the cleaner's MSDS, physician assistant Jones' May 24, 1993 report and Dr. Raugust's May 27, 1993 report.  Dr. Repsher testified that if the cleaner had come in contact with Employee's face as he alleges, it would have produced "extremely severe and immediate symptoms" and "extreme burns" on the face, nose and eyes.  (Tr.  254, 288, 299).  


Dr. Repsher testified that Dr. Ziegler's opinion about the chemical composition of the vapor coming off the grill was incorrect. Specifically, Dr. Repsher explained that the vapor would not contain sodium hydroxide, only harmless steam.  (Tr.  255).  


Well, I was just appalled at Dr. Ziegler's testimony.  It is clear that he apparently does not know of, or does not understand, Dalton's Law of Partial Pressures,  . . .  What this law states is that compounds or chemicals that are dissolved in a solution of water or any other solution will have an escaping tendency out of that solution directly proportional to the partial pressure of whatever that compound is at that particular temperature.  The partial pressure of sodium hydroxide . . ., is zero.  There is no escaping tendency of the sodium hydroxide.  What escapes is the water.  The water boils off when you put it on a two hundred degree grill.


It's that basic fundamental tenet that tells us that there could not have been any sodium hydroxide in what was coming off that grill, because sodium hydroxide has no escaping tendency.  What would happen, it would boil off the water and if you didn't scrape it, you would find the sodium  hydroxide that was in that solution, you know, as a white powder on the grill, or a white sticky mess, because it would mix with everything, you know, and probably turn brown, so it would mix with the grease and stuff there, but the sodium hydroxide stays on the grill unless you scrape it off.  It doesn't come up off with the steam.


Q:  What about Dr. Ziegler's argument that it would be even more toxic coming off the grill because there would be oil droplets in the steam as well as the sodium hydroxide? . . . .


A:  Well, chemically, it's just absurd.  I mean --- I mean, you could have --- I mean, it is bubbles that are coming up and breaking, you know, and the breaking bubble could toss the droplet of oil in the air, but you're not going to breath a droplet of oil.  I mean, in order to get something down into your lungs, it has to be submicroscopic.  It has to be in the --- certainly below ten microns in diameter, which is slightly bigger than a red cell, and, I mean, that oil droplet as you can see . . . it's not even going to get in your breathing zone.  I mean, it might spatter on you, but it's not going to form a fine aerosol.  What you see, the aerosol that you see is basically condensed --- it's steam, which is condensed, gaseous water.


Q:  Now is it possible that steam can stink, smell noxious, and not be toxic?


A:  Well, yes, it can, because the ethanolamine which is one of the ingredients of this product, it also has a low escaping tendency, but it has a rather strong smell, and it's detectable --- its odor, which to most people is unpleasant --- it's detectable at very low parts per million. . . . [I]t doesn't take very much to give it an unpleasant smell, . . .,sodium hydroxide has no smell, but any smell . . . would be from the ethanolamine. 

(Tr. 256-259)


Q:  So, there's a difference between an offensive, obnoxious smell and toxicity?


A:  Yeah, there may be.  I mean, you can also have an offensive toxic smell that can be very toxic, for instance, hydrogen sulfide, . . . has that offensive rotten egg smell, but it also kills.


. . . .



Sodium hydroxide does not work that way and neither does ethanol
, in the concentrations --- in the temperatures that we're talking about here.  


. . . .


Q:  So, if that --- even if it was inhaled [the steam from the grill] it would cause no harm to the respiratory tract?


A:  Right, the --- if you held somebody down and kept squirting him in the face with the mist, the actual aerosol, what you would get would be severe burns of the face, eyes, and nose, and mouth, but you wouldn't get --- you wouldn't get respiratory --- lower respiratory tract disease.  You wouldn't get bronchitis or asthma or fibrosis or lower respiratory tract disease.  


Dr. Repsher testified that the cause of the edema of Employee's pharynx, vocal cords (larynx) and sinuses was probably smoking.  (Tr. 264-265).  Furthermore, Dr. Repsher opined that Employee's pulmonary problems are more probably related to smoking, not to any exposure to the cleaner.  Specifically, Dr. Repsher agreed with Dr. Baker, that Employee's work exposure was not the cause of his breathing problems.  (Tr. 292).  Dr. Repsher believed that this was the reason Dr. Baker cancelled the methacholine challenge test which is used to diagnose reactionary airway disease (RAD).  (Tr. 311)  Instead, Dr. Repsher testified that the "worst" environmental toxin related to RAD is smoke.  (Tr. 302).   



Furthermore, based on the results of Dr. Beal's testing, Dr. Repsher testified that Employee was in worse health than when he left work with Employer.  (Tr. 266)  Assuming Employee did have some toxic exposure at work, Dr. Repsher explained that once Employee left his job, he should have shown "rapid and sustained" improvement.  (Tr. 268).  


At both the July 1997 and March 1995 hearings, Dr. Repsher  disagreed with Dr. Ziegler about the ability of the sodium hydroxide to vaporize at temperatures of only 200 degrees.  Dr. Repsher testified that temperatures of about 2000 degrees are required to cause sodium hydroxide to sublimate, evaporate to a gas directly from a solid state.  At the hearing, Dr. Respher was recalled on surrebuttal to address issues raised by Dr. Ziegler's rebuttal testimony.  


Q:  We have a theory . . . that once the Spartan Oven & Grill Cleaner was poured . . . onto a griddle of approximately 200-250 degrees, that it would vaporize; . . . . It would be in a very fine powder or dust . . . .  And that this vapor would then be inhaled . . . .  Do you have comment with respect to whether you believe that this is, first, possible?


A:  Chemically --- physically, chemically impossible.  That has never been described.  That's not --- sodium hydroxide would be less as a congealed mass with the grease and oil and food particles on the grill.  The only thing that would come off as a vapor or a mist would be pure steam.  The water --- there'd be trace amounts of the ethanolamine and the butoxyethanol and --- but there would be absolutely no sodium hydroxide because the sodium hydroxide will stay on the --- will stay in the solution and as the water is finally all boiled out of it, it would be left as a gunky residue mixed in with the grease and the oil.  

(Tr. 511).


When asked whether a sodium hydroxide aerosol could be mechanically created by boiling the cleaner, Dr. Repsher testified:  


[Y]ou don't generate a mist of sodium hydroxide [by] boiling . . . . The only way you can get sodium hydroxide in the air is to actually aerosolize the solution like you do with the squeeze bottle.  And we know that he didn't have a significant exposure from that mist that he walked in because he didn't have burns on his face or mucous membranes.

(Tr. 513).


When asked whether dried sodium hydroxide dusts could become airborne, Dr. Repsher testified: 


Completely absurd.  It's either a mist or it's not a mist because sodium hydroxide is hygroscopic, it will not lose the water.  It will tend to actually absorb any water that might be in the atmosphere to it because of its strong affinity to water.  It is not a dust.  It is absolutely not a dust.  That's the most absurd thing I've ever heard.  


. . . .


Well, if you ground up sodium hydroxide into fine dust and you did it in an extremely dry atmosphere with zero humidity . . . it would be theoretically possible to get any concentration in the air that you wished.  In practice, it wouldn't be a dry dust because it's so hygroscopic and those fine particles, if there was any humidity at all, would attract water to it.  But under the conditions that Mr. Gentleman worked, I mean that argument's irrelevant anyway.  I mean he was exposed only that one time . . .when Frank Baker was spraying the stuff to a fine mist.  The rest of the time he was exposed only to steam coming off the griddle in which there would be no sodium hydroxide because it doesn't vaporize.

(Tr. 514-515).


At the July 1997 hearing Dr. Repsher also took issue with the experiment conducted by Dr. Colby.  Specifically, Dr. Repsher testified that if the sodium hydroxide were mixed with the type of dirty grease found on a grill, it becomes a "black gooey mess."  Consequently, Dr. Respher testified, Dr. Colby's experiment, which showed splatters of sodium hydroxide solution on the test strip, was invalid.  Dr. Repsher testified that even in the absence of grease, the droplets would have had to have been 2-5 microns in size to have entered the respiratory system.  Additionally, they would have caused burns to the face before entering the lungs.


FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

"In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter.  AS 23.30.120(a)(1).  The presumption also applies to claims that the work aggravated, accelerated or combined with a preexisting condition to produce a disability or need for medical treatment.  Burgess Construction Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312, 315 (Alaska 1981).  Furthermore, in claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is needed to make the work connection.  Id., 316. The presumption can also attach in an aggravation/acceleration context without a specific event.  Providence Washington Ins. Co. v. Bonner, 680 P.2d 96 (Alaska 1984).  


Application of the presumption is a three-step process.  Gillispie v. B & B Foodland, 881 P.2d 1106, 1109 (Alaska 1994).  An employee must establish a "preliminary link" between the claimed conditions and his work.  For the purpose of determining whether the preliminary link between work and the claimed conditions has been attached, we do not assess the credibility of witnesses.  Resler v. Universal Services Inc., 778 P.2d 1146, 1148-49 (Alaska 1989) and Hoover v. Westbrook, AWCB Decision No.  97-0221 (November 3, 1997).  


The employer must then rebut the presumption by producing substantial evidence the conditions are not work-related.  Miller v. ITT Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044, 1046 (Alaska 1978).  Substantial evidence is "such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion."  Grainger v. Alaska Workers' Compensation Bd., 805 P.2d 976, 977 n.1 (Alaska 1991).  The Grainger court also explained that there are two possible ways to overcome the presumption:  (1)  produce substantial evidence which provides an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would exclude the work as the cause of the conditions; or (2) directly eliminate any reasonable possibility the work was a factor in causing the condition.  The same standard used to determine whether medical evidence is necessary to establish the preliminary link is also necessary to overcome it.  Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 871 (Alaska 1985).  An employer may rebut the presumption of compensability by presenting expert medical opinion evidence the work was probably not a cause of the claimed condition.  Big K Grocery v. Gibson, 836 P.2d 941, 942 (Alaska 1992).  Evidence used to rebut the presumption is examined by itself to determine whether it is sufficient to rebut the presumption.  Wolfer, at 869.  Medical testimony cannot constitute substantial evidence if it simply points to other possible causes of Employee's claimed condition without ruling out its work-relatedness.  Childs v. Copper Valley Elec. Ass'n, 860 P.2d 1184, 1189 (Alaska 1993).


If the presumption is rebutted, Employee must then prove, by a preponderance of the evidence, his work was a substantial factor which brings about the condition or aggravates a preexisting ailment.  Wolfer, at 870.  "Where one has the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence, he must induce a belief in the minds of the [triers of fact] that the asserted facts are probably true."  Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964).  The claimed condition is then compensable if the work is a substantial factor in bringing it about.  Burgess, 317.  The work is a substantial factor if:  (1)  the condition would not have occurred at the time it did, in the way it did, or to the degree it did but for the work and (2) reasonable people regard the work as a cause of the condition and attach responsibility to it.  Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d 528, 533 (Alaska 1987).


I.  Was Employee's pre-existing back condition aggravated by his work with Employer?

We find Employee has attached the presumption with his own testimony that the May 1993 incident, in which he claims co-worker Baker sprayed a "direct burst" of cleaner into his face, caused him to cough so forcefully, he aggravated his back.    We further find, based on Employee's testimony, that he has attached the presumption  his chronic coughing from routine daily use of the cleaner also aggravated his back pain.  We base this finding on Employee's testimony that sometime in "August or September" 1993, he spent approximately four weeks in bed coughing and that he relates this to his long-term use of the cleaner.  We find Employee's testimony which is supported by Judy Holber't September 27, 1993 clinical note (indicating Employee had back pain related to coughing) sufficient to attach the presumption his coughing caused back pain.  
We further find, based on Judy Holbert's September 27, 1993 clinical note, Dr. Lindig's November 3, 1993 report, and Dr. Smith's SIME report and deposition testimony, that Employee's pre-existing back condition was probably aggravated by coughing after September 27, 1993.  We find Employer has rebutted the presumption of continuing back pain caused by coughing with Dr. Smith's SIME report which incorporates Dr. Burke's December 14, 1993 EME report and Dr. Lindig's reports. 


Reviewing the record related to Employee's back pain, we find Employee has not proved, by a preponderance of the evidence, that his back pain before September 27, 1993 or after December 14, 1993 was related to coughing or was permanently worsened by such coughing.  Therefore, we conclude that, if Employee's coughing is related to his work, Employer is only liable, at most, for a temporary aggravation to Employee's back pain between September 27 and December 14, 1993.  Therefore, we must first consider whether Employee's respiratory condition is work-related.


II. Are Employee's respiratory conditions, which include ear infections, a perforated septum, mucositis, sinusitis, coughing, laryngitis and pulmonary problems work related?

We find Employee's claim that his coughing and other respiratory problems are related to his exposure to chemicals used in his work is a highly technical medical consideration which requires medical evidence to attach the presumption.  Burgess Construction Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312, 316 (Alaska 1981).  


A.  We conclude Employee attached the presumption the May incident and/or his exposure to the cleaner from his daily use of it brought about his respiratory conditions or permanently aggravated his preexisting respiratory ailments.

Based on Employee's testimony we find Employee was exposed to vapors rising from the grill when he used the cleaner for 3-5 minutes per day, 4 days per week over the course of his 8 years of employment with Employer.  We find based on Employee's testimony and the testimony of co-workers Jones, Dahmen, Ginnaty, and Holland that Employee coughed while cleaning the grill.  


We further find, based on Employee's testimony, that he had contact with the cleaner in its aerosol form during the May 1993 incident.  Based on the testimony of Employee and co-worker Jones, we find the May 1993 incident caused Employee to cough.


Finally, we find, based on the uncontroverted testimony of  Employee and his co-workers, that he smoked for most of his adult life and during the time he worked for Employer.  We find this testimony, in combination with the testimony of Dr. Ziegler that his cigarette abuse made him "hypersensitive" to the cleaner, sufficient to attach the presumption that the May 1993 incident or routine daily use of the cleaner may have aggravated, either permanently or temporarily, any pre-existing respiratory conditions from which he may have suffered.


We find the lay testimony, when taken with the deposition testimony and reports of Dr. Raugust, sufficient to establish the preliminary link that Employee's work exposure to certain chemicals in the cleaner, particularly sodium hydroxide, can cause the type of chronic respiratory, ear, nose and throat conditions from which he suffers.  We further base this finding on the testimony of Dr. Schrager that sodium hydroxide in the cleaner is a corrosive which will cause permanent damage to the respiratory system from the nose, to the throat, to the lungs if inhaled.  Therefore, we conclude Employee has attached the presumption, his exposure to the cleaner is a substantial factor which may have brought about his respiratory ailments or permanently aggravated pre-existing problems.


B.  We conclude Employee attached the presumption the May incident and/or his exposure to the cleaner from his routine use of it temporarily aggravated his respiratory system, including any pre-exisitng conditions.

We also find Employee has attached the presumption the cleaner may have temporarily aggravated his respiratory problems with medical testimony.  We base our finding on Dr. Schrager's testimony that butoxyethanol, another component of the cleaner, is an "irritant" which causes a temporary, "reversible reaction in tissue."   We find such expert testimony, taken with the lay testimony offered and Dr. Baker's SIME report, which states Employee suffered an "upper airway irritant affect" from his exposure, is sufficient to attach the presumption the cleaner may have temporarily aggravated Employee's respiratory system, including any pre-existing respiratory condition from which he may have suffered.  


C.  We find Employer has rebutted the presumption the May 1993 incident brought about Employee's respiratory ailments or permanently aggravated his pre-existing respiratory conditions. 

We find Employer has produced evidence indicating a host of other causes may be responsible for Employee's respiratory conditions.  These include head trauma, his use of cocaine, marijuana, cigarettes and nasal sprays, as well as the cold dry winter air in the Fairbanks, Alaska.  If Employer rules out the work exposure as a substantial factor in bringing about Employee's conditions, then it need not offer alternative explanations for the Employee's symptoms.  Childs, at 1189.  Therefore, we review the evidence to determine whether Employer has rebutted the presumption with an expert medical opinion that the cleaner was probably not a substantial factor in bringing about Employee's respiratory ailments.  We find Employer has.    


We base our finding on the testimony of co-worker Baker who testified, contrary to Employee, that he did not spray Employee in the face and Employee did not walk through any cloud of aerosol mist.  We find Baker's testimony is supported by the reports of physician's assistant Jones and Dr. Raugust (respectively dated May 24 and 27, 1993) which fail to mention any burns to the eyes, nose or lips.  Baker's testimony, in combination with the May 24 and 27, 1993 medical reports of physician's assistant Jones and Dr. Raugust, corroborate the expert medical testimony of Dr. Repsher that if Employee had, in fact, received a "direct burst" of the aerosol to his face or had walked into a thick aerosol cloud of the cleaner, he would have suffered some exterior chemical burns to at least the moist areas of his eyes, lips or nose before such spray made it into his nose, throat, sinuses, or upper and lower respiratory systems given the corrosive effect of  sodium hydroxide in the cleaner.  


Furthermore, we find Employer has rebutted the presumption that the May 1993 incident caused any damage to Employee's lower respiratory system.  Based on Dr. Repsher's testimony about the "aerodynamic diameter distribution" of the aerosol,  we find that even if an aerosol had been generated, the particles would have been captured in Employee's nasal passageways and would not have reached the lower respiratory regions of his lungs to account for Employee's pulmonary problems, including emphysema and COPD.  Moreover, Dr. Baker's SIME report states that Employee's recurring bronchitis is related to cigarette abuse, and exposure to the cleaner did not cause chemical pneumonitis, an acute or chronic pulmonary problem, his laryngitis, or cough.  


D.  Reviewing the record, we find Employee has not proved, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the May 1993 exposure to the cleaner was a substantial factor which brought about his ear, nose, throat or respiratory system or permanently aggravated any pre-existing conditions.

Instead, we find Employee suffered, at most, a temporary upper respiratory irritant effect from the May 1993 incident.  We base this finding on Dr. Baker's SIME report and Dr. Schrager's testimony  that butoxyethanol is an "irritant" which will cause "reversible reaction in tissue."  We find such expert testimony is consistent with the testimony of co-worker Jones who stated he saw Employee smoking the day after the incident, thereby indicating Employee had returned to his pre-incident level of pulmonary function.  We conclude therefore, that Employee has proven, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the May 1993 incident was a substantial factor which brought about, at most, a one-day temporary irritation to his pre-existing upper airway conditions.


E.  We find Employer has also rebutted the presumption Employee's exposure to the cleaner from his routine use of it on the kitchen grill was a substantial factor which brought about his ear, nose, throat or respiratory ailments or permanently aggravated any pre-existing conditions.

This finding is supported, in part, by Dr. Baker's SIME report which stated the only condition the cleaner caused was an "upper airway irritant affect."  Employer also rebutted the presumption of any permanent damage or aggravation to Employee's respiratory conditions with the testimony of Dr. Repsher.  Specifically, we find, based on Dr. Repsher's explanation of Dalton's Law of Partial Pressures concerning the zero "escaping tendency" of sodium hydroxide, that sodium hydroxide could not have been inhaled by Employee as part of the vapor rising from the grill.  Similarly, based on Dr. Repsher's testimony about the highly "hygroscopic" characteristics of sodium hydroxide and the "greasy" nature of the grill when it was being cleaned, that it is not probable Employee inhaled dried sodium hydroxide particles in the form of dust rising on hot air currents from the grill, as asserted by Dr. Schrager. 


Finally, we find Employer has rebutted the presumption that Employee's lower respiratory system was permanently injured by his daily exposure to the cleaner.  This finding, again, is based on Dr. Repsher's testimony about the "aerodynamic diameter distribution" of any aerosol that may have been mechanically generated by boiling the cleaner, as suggested by Dr. Colby.  Specifically, we find Dr. Repsher's testimony has rebutted the presumption that sodium hydroxide could exist in the vapor caused by boiling the cleaner or could have been taken down into Employee's lower respiratory system to cause his emphysema or COPD without leaving chemical burns on his face.


In summary, we conclude Employer has rebutted the presumption Employee's exposure to the cleaner from his routine daily use of it was a substantial factor which caused Employee's respiratory ailments or permanently aggravated any pre-existing conditions from which he may have suffered.  Therefore, the presumption drops out, and Employee must prove all the elements of his claim by a preponderance of the evidence.


F.  Reviewing the record, we find Employee has failed to prove, by a preponderance of the evidence, that his exposure to the cleaner from his daily use of it was a substantial factor which brought about his ear, nose, throat or respiratory ailments or permanently aggravated his pre-existing conditions.

We give greater weight to the opinions of Drs. Respher and Baker than to Drs. Ziegler, Colby and Schrager, because both are medical doctors and specialists in pulmonary diseases who actually examined Employee.  Although we are equally impressed with Dr. Raugust's credentials as a medical expert, we give his opinion on the causation question less weight because he did not have access to Employee's past medical records, as did Drs.  Repsher and Baker. This finding is supported by Dr. Raugust's own testimony that he was at a disadvantage because he lacked such information. Therefore, reviewing the entire record, we find Employee has failed to prove his daily exposure to the cleaner was a substantial factor which brought about his respiratory ailments or permanently aggravated any pre-existing conditions, by a preponderance of the evidence.


G. We also find Employer has rebutted the presumption Employee's daily exposure to the cleaner was a substantial factor that temporarily aggravated his respiratory system.

We base this finding on Dr. Repsher's testimony that the vapor rising from the grill was harmless, although unpleasant smelling, steam.  Therefore, we conclude Employer has ruled out the work exposure as a substantial factor.


H.  Reviewing the record, we find Employee has proved, by a preponderance of the evidence, his daily exposure to the cleaner  was a substantial factor which temporarily aggravated his upper respiratory system from July 26, 1993 through September 24, 1993.

Although we found Dr. Repsher's testimony rebutted the presumption, we also find his testimony about the escaping tendency of ethanols with the steam rising from the grill is consistent with Dr. Baker's SIME report that Employee had an upper airway irritant affect from using the cleaner.  Additionally, Dr. Schrager's testimony supports the proposition that the butoxyethanol in the cleaner is an irritant with a reversible reaction in tissue which when removed, allows the tissue to return to its "normal" state.   We therefore, we review the evidence to determine the duration of the temporary aggravation Employee suffered from his exposure to the cleaner. 


At this juncture, we find it is appropriate to also consider the other evidence offered by Employer to explain his current respiratory ailments.  We have already found Employee smoked cigarettes most of his adult life and during the time he worked for Employer.  We also find, based on Dr. Baker's SIME report (almost one year after Employee left work), that Employee's chronic bronchitis is related to cigarette abuse.  Furthermore, we find, based on our review of the medical records, that Employee used cocaine and marijuana during the time he work with Employer.  Based on this finding, and Employee's positive drug tests during the EME after he terminated his work with Employer, we find Employee's perforated septum is more probably the result of long term cocaine abuse and that his marijuana use probably further aggravated his pre-existing bronchitis, emphysema and COPD.     


We find, based on his own testimony, Employee left his work with Employer on July 26, 1993.  We find Employer has rebutted the presumption of any on-going irritation to Employee's upper airway system based on Dr. Raugust's September 23, 1993 letter to Employer which said Employee had "improved dramatically" since leaving the job site.  Based on this letter, and Dr. Raugust's testimony that Employee would "probably" completely recover to his pre-exposure level, assuming he did not abuse cocaine, cigarettes or marijuana, we find Employer has rebutted the presumption of any continuing work-related irritation to Employee's upper respiratory system after September 23, 1993.


This finding is further supported by Dr. Repsher's testimony that Employee's symptoms have become worse.  Based on Dr. Raugust's testimony that Employee would have "probably" returned to his pre-exposure level of health if he did not use cocaine or smoke marijuana and cigarettes, we conclude Employee's deteriorating health after September 23, 1993, including back pain caused by coughing, is not related to his work exposure, but was more likely caused by his continued use of cigarettes, cocaine and marijuana.  Therefore, we conclude the temporary affects from Employee's exposure to the cleaner during his daily use of it until July 26, 1993 (when he left work) ended on September 23, 1993.  


Because the parties limited the scope of this hearing to the issue of whether the work exposure was a substantial factor which brought about Employee's respiratory ailment or aggravated any pre-existing conditions, we do not address the recovery of any specific benefits to which Employee may be entitled.


ORDER

1.  Employee's claim for benefits related to low back pain is denied and dismissed.


2.  Employee's claim that his exposure to the cleaner was a substantial factor which caused or permanently aggravated his respiratory conditions is denied and dismissed. 


3.  Employee shall proceed on his claim for the specific benefits to which he may be entitled, if any, for the temporary aggravation to his upper respiratory system on May 23 and 24, 1993 and from July 27 through September 24, 1993.


Dated at Anchorage, Alaska this 9th day of December, 1997.



ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD



  /s/ Rhonda L. Reinhold                               


Rhonda Reinhold,



Designated Chairman



 /s/ Shawn Pierre                                          


Shawn Pierre, Member



 /s/ Marc D. Stemp                                      


Marc Stemp, Member


RECONSIDERATION

A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.


MODIFICATION

Within one year after the rejection of a claim or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200 or 23.30.215 a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.  


CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Interlocutory Decision and Order in the matter of Robert Gentleman, employee / applicant; v. ITT Federal Services Corp., employer; and CIGNA, insurer / defendants; Case No. 9310568; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, this 9th day of December, 1997.



Brady D. Jackson III, Clerk
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     �In addition to the evidence taken at the July 1997 hearing, the parties agreed we should also consider the testimony of witnesses from the prior hearing.  References to the March 1995 hearing transcript will be designated as "Tr. __."        


     �Our review of the medical records show that Employee tested negative for alcohol and drugs on May 12, 1983 at Fairbanks Memorial Hospital.  We did not locate a more recent test however. 


     �The parties stipulated to admit the cleaner's MSDS into the record.  (Tr. 382).


     �The videotape was entered without objection and marked as Exhibit 4 at the March 1995 hearing.


     �See footnote 6.


     �Dr. Raugust was referring to the abstract of a 1992 article from a British journal on environmental medicine which published a study showing  that "prolonged contact from the fumes of these oven cleaners can be --- can cause permanent pulmonary problems."  (Raugust dep. 9).  The abstract/article appears to be the same to which Dr. Ziegler referred in his testimony (Tr.116-117) and was harshly criticized by Dr. Respher as being based on suspect data.  (Tr.  272-4). 


     �Employee's other medical records indicate John Jossee, M.D., performed  back surgery in July 1990.  (July 19-23, 1990 Fairbanks Memorial Hospital records).  According to the social history taken before his surgery, Employee indicated he smoked one pack of cigarettes per day, "experimented" with marijuana one to two times per month and had not used cocaine in over a year.  (Id.).


     �Dr. Repsher testified that the ethanol compounds Employee smelled were "butoxyethanol" and "ethanolamine." (Tr. 301).





